RESEARCH SERIES No. 95



HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.



IBRAHIM KASIRYE

OCTOBER 2012

RESEARCH SERIES No. 95



HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.

IBRAHIM KASIRYE

OCTOBER 2012

Copyright © Economic Policy Research Centre (EPRC)

The Economic Policy Research Centre (EPRC) is an autonomous not-for-profit organization established in 1993 with a mission to foster sustainable growth and development in Uganda through advancement of research –based knowledge and policy analysis. Since its inception, the EPRC has made significant contributions to national and regional policy formulation and implementation in the Republic of Uganda and throughout East Africa. The Centre has also contributed to national and international development processes through intellectual policy discourse and capacity strengthening for policy analysis, design and management. The EPRC envisions itself as a Centre of excellence that is capable of maintaining a competitive edge in providing national leadership in intellectual economic policy discourse, through timely research-based contribution to policy processes.

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the Economic Policy Research Centre (EPRC) or its management.

Any enquiries can be addressed in writing to the Executive Director on the following address:

Economic Policy Research Centre Plot 51, Pool Road, Makerere University Campus P.O. Box 7841, Kampala, Uganda Tel: +256-414-541023/4 Fax: +256-414-541022 Email: eprc@eprc.or.ug Web: www.eprc.or.ug

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author acknowledges support from the African Economic Research Consortium (AERC) to undertake this research. I also benefited from comments from Gemano Mwabu, David Sahn, and participants at the AERC biannual workshop in Arusha, Tanzania June 2011. I would like to thank the Measure DHS for making the data available. Any errors are mine.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgement	i
Abstract	1
1.0 Introduction/Background	2
1.2 Objectives to the study	3
2.0 Research Issue: Theoretical framework and review	
of the literature	5
2.1 Empirical evidence of the determinants of HIV/AIDS status.	7
3.0 Methodology and Data	9
3.1 Probit estimation of determinants of risk of HIV infection	
and sexual behavior	9
3.2 Bivariate probit models for extramarital sex and condom use	10
3.3. Data	11
3.4 Variables used.	11
3.4.1 Dependent variables	11
3.4.2 Independent variables	12
4.0 Results	15
4.1 Descriptive results of sexual behavior and HIV program coverage.	15
4.2 Determinants of sexual behaviors	17
4.3 HIV/AIDS testing behavior and male circumcision	21
4.4 Determinants of the risk of HIV infection and self-perceived chances	
of contracting HIV.	24
5.0 Conclusions and implications	28
6.0 References	29
EPRC RESEARCH SERIES	32

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:Descriptive statistics for variables used , 15-49 years	13
Table 2: Sexual behaviors, HIV testing and infection status by gender 2011	16
Table 3: Determinants of sexual behaviors - probit model results	19
Table 4: Determinants of HIV Testing and Male circumcision-Probit model estimates	22
Table 5: Determinants of HIV Infection and perception about the high risk of	
HIV infection	25

ABSTRACT

Although Uganda reported large reductions in HIV/AIDS prevalence during the 1990s, recent evidence suggests that country's rate of new HIV infections is on the rise. This study explores the factors that are correlated with sexual behavior and the risk of HIV infection using a unique dataset of 17,000 individuals from the 2011 Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey. This survey tested individuals 15-49 years of age for sexually transmitted infections, including HIV/AIDS. The same survey also collected background information for all tested individuals. This information is similar to what is collected in a typical demographic and health survey (DHS). We estimate probit models for the determinants of sexual behaviors such as: having concurrent sexual partners, condom use, and alcohol use during sex, and having been tested for HIV prior to the survey. In addition, we estimate model for determinants of the risk of HIV infections as well as self-assessed risks of contracting HIV. We find that education and access to health facilities are important determinants of sexual behaviors as well as the risk of HIV infections.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

HIV/AIDS remains a significant development problem in sub-Sahara Africa (SSA), and understanding the factors that can halt the spread of the disease is both an economic and a public health priority. According to the joint United Nations Programme on AIDS (UNAIDS), at the end of 2010, an estimated 34 million persons were infected with HIV globally, and at least 68 % of victims were in SSA—a region with only 12% of the global population (UNAIDS, 2011). Worse still, the region had 70 percent of the estimated 2.7 million new HIV infections during the same period. Clearly, the HIV/AIDS situation in SSA remains dire despite the increased resources devoted to control of the disease. In the literature, such risky sexual behaviors as having multiple sexual partners and not using a condom are highlighted as the main drivers of HIV/AIDS infections. Among policy makers and researchers, it is now recognized that without sustained behavioral change, SSA is unlikely to reverse the tide of increasing HIV/AIDS infections. Although some studies have examined whether sexual behaviors are indeed changing due to HIV/AIDS (e.g. Glick and Sahn, 2008; Fortson, 2008), the evidence is still inconclusive, and many of the previous cross-country studies have been plagued by comparability issues.

This paper seeks to add to the existing evidence on this issue by studying the determinants of HIV/AIDS status in Uganda, a country that is considered exemplary because of its proactive strategy for combating of the spread of HIV/AIDS. Uganda managed to reduce its HIV/AIDS prevalence rate from 30 % in the early 1990s to approximately 6.3 % by 2004/05 (Government of Uganda, 2006); however by 2011, the HIV prevalence rate had increased to 7.3% (Ministry of Health et al, 2012). This reversal is partly attributed to the behavioral change campaign that was code named ABC—Abstinence, Being faithful and using Condoms. This campaign was implemented beginning in the late 1980s (Green et al., 2006). Furthermore, spending on new HIV/AIDS care and prevention programs has increased the overall significance of the health sector in Uganda's national budget. Between 1997/98 and 2001/02, health spending in Uganda averaged 7 % of the national budget (Government of Uganda, 2008). In contrast, for the periods 2002/03 and 2005/06, average health spending was more than 12 % of the national budget.¹ Indeed, the recent surge in health spending is attributed to the global initiative to combat the spread of HIV/AIDS, which includes the Global Fund for AIDS, Malaria and Tuberculosis, the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI), and the US President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR).

Although Uganda has achieved some commendable results in combating the spread of HIV/AIDS, challenges remain. First, despite a significant decrease in the national HIV/AIDS prevalence rates, the country has failed to meet its own HIV targets. For example, the current Health Sector

2

¹ Actual spending on HIV/AIDS intervention programs increased from US\$ 38.4 million in 2003/04 to US\$ 170 million in 2006/07 (MFPED, UAC, and UNDP, 2008).

Strategic Plan (HSSP) reports that the sero-prevalence among Ugandans, has consistently remained above the national target of 5 %(Government of Uganda, 2010b). Second, in the recent past, the country has seen a reversal in the trend in new HIV/AIDS infections. According to the Uganda AIDS Commission, the new infections rates nearly doubled from 73,000 in 2002 to over 130,000 by 2009 (UAC, 2009).² Third, only a small proportion of Ugandans know their HIV status. Thus, a substantial proportion of infected individuals have never been tested, and such individuals have an increased risk of spreading the disease. Overall, the increase in new HIV infections may be partly explained by complacency due to the recent availability of antiretroviral therapies (GoU, 2010). Nonetheless, such reversals not only highlight internal inefficiency in the health system but also cast doubts on Uganda's ability to attain its HIV control targets. Against the backdrop of increased spending on HIV/AIDS prevention and care, the correlates of HIV status must be examined, and we must consider how these correlates vary within various populations.

1.2 Objectives to the study

In this paper, we investigate the association between individual HIV/AIDS status, sexual behavior, and socioeconomic status. Specifically, we consider the following questions: (a) What are the socio-economic determinants of sexual behaviors? (b) What factors are correlated with the adoption of the key HIV/AIDS prevention strategies ?; (c) What are the determinants of the risk of HIV infection? The overriding objective is to understand individual behaviors relative to the risk of HIV infection.

Uganda is of special interest in this research given its long history of implementing HIV/ AIDS prevention programs. For some time, the country was heralded as a leader in HIV/AIDS prevention programs. Consequently, it would be wise to consider how the country managed to reverse the increase in HIV/AIDS—at least in the 1990s. Second, anecdotal evidence suggests the increase in new infections could be due to the complacency generated by the new availability of antiretroviral (ARV) drugs. The current study indicates some of the potential reasons for the recent changes.

Although other studies have examined the determinants and impacts of HIV/AIDS prevalence in Uganda, the majority focuses on the medical aspects of the disease (see, e.g., Ciantia *et al.*, 2004; Quinn *et al.*, 2000; and Serwadda *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, there has been no nationally representative study that combines regular socioeconomic and demographic information with information on HIV testing in the Uganda literature. Indeed, prior to the 2004/05 survey by the Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ORC Macro International, all of the previous estimates of HIV/AIDS prevalence in Uganda were based on sentinel sites and thus may not nationally

² These recent changes should be interpreted with caution because they are not based on nationally representative surveys/assessments, as mentioned earlier, but are instead based on information from sentinel sites that test for HIV/AIDS among expectant mothers. Thus, they may produce unreliable data that may have been affected by self-selection bias.

representative. Furthermore, despite the advent of DHS type surveys, which also test for HIV/ AIDS status, all of the previous cross-country studies examining correlates of HIV/AIDS status have not involved Uganda (see, e.g., Fortson, 2008; de Walque, 2006, 2007b). Consequently, using the 2011 Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey, which is nationally representative, this paper investigates how individual sexual behaviors relate to the risk of HIV infection. The current debates on the effectiveness of Uganda's HIV/AIDS prevention programs (highlighted below) provide another reason for undertaking this research.

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section, we present a theoretical framework for analyzing the determinants of HIV/AIDS status and review the recent literature on the determinants of HIV status in SSA. Section 3 provides the methodology and data used. Section 4 presents the findings of the study, and the discussions and conclusions are presented in Section 5.

2.0 RESEARCH ISSUE: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Given the numerous ways in which an individual can contract HIV/AIDS—which range from sexual intercourse to blood transmissions, mother-to-child blood transmissions and intravenous drug use—there is no single theoretical framework that has been used to explain the determinants of HIV/AIDS status. Rather, a number of authors identify a number of major pathways through which an individual can contract HIV/AIDS (see, e.g., Glick, 2010, 2007; de Walque, 2007a; Oster, 2012, 2005). Using the unique characteristics of SSA—which, as mentioned previously, is the region with the highest HIV infection rates—Glick (2007) identifies two major pathways linking socioeconomic status to HIV prevalence: sexual behavior and knowledge of HIV/AIDS; and the poor state of general reproductive health services, which leads to a large number of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and the poorly developed health services, because of which a large proportion of the population do not know their HIV status; and.

One of the most highlighted reproductive health characteristics of SSA is the large number of untreated non-HIV STIs. It is argued that untreated diseases, such as syphilis and herpes, increase the susceptibility of an individual to HIV/AIDS infections. Indeed, such authors as Oster (2005) posit that this increased susceptibility is one of the major explanations for the differences in the HIV/AIDS transmission rates in the United States and SSA.³ According to the author, SSA has experienced more rapid HIV transmission due to the large number of untreated STIs. Other concerns related to reproductive health include the issues of male circumcision and pregnancy. According to Ferry et al. (2001), male circumcision rates may partly explain the differences in the HIV/AIDS prevalence rates within SSA. For instance, HIV/AIDS prevalence rates are much lower in West African countries, which have a large Muslim population, than in East and Central Africa countries, which have much lower rates of male circumcision.⁴ In addition, pregnant women have higher rates of HIV/AIDS prevalence compared to other sexually active women, possibly due to reduced immunity during pregnancy. The state of overall health services can also aid the spread of HIV. Glick (2007) notes that the majority of the adult population in SSA has never been tested for HIV/AIDS despite the outbreak of the disease more than 20 years ago. Thus, there is limited knowledge about HIV/AIDS status, which exacerbates the spread of the disease, as mentioned earlier.

According to Glick (2007), sexual behavior (and in particular, sex with multiple partners) is seen as the major reason why the countries in SSA have the highest rates of HIV infection. Although the average lifetime number of sexual partners in SSA is similar to that in other regions, due to the region's history of polygamy, men in SSA normally have a number of concurrent sexual

³ HIV/AIDS was first identified in the gay community in the USA in the early 1980s; however, the spread of disease in the USA has been very limited compared to its spread in SSA (Oster, 2005).

⁴ Muslim believers practice circumcision on male children as part of their religious rights of passage.

partners, which creates what is known as the "sexual network" in the HIV/AIDS literature. The susceptibility to HIV infections increases with both the number of people in the sexual network and the duration of sexual relationships. Other sexual behaviors noted as key drivers of HIV/AIDS in SSA include the practice of cross-generational sexual relationships, particularly between older men and young girls. This practice explains the large gender differences in HIV/AIDS infection rates among teenagers. Thus, sexual behavior, coupled with knowledge, attitudes and beliefs about HIV/AIDS, can be a key determinant of infection.

A key determinant of access to and comprehension of HIV/AIDS knowledge and information is education. de Walque (2007a) posits that education is negatively related to HIV infection rates and identifies various pathways through which education impacts HIV/AIDS infection: the use of condoms, particularly during sex with non-regular partners; the use of HIV/AIDS facilities, particularly voluntary counseling and testing centers; and the empowerment of women to negotiate sex. Based on longitudinal data from a district in Southwestern Uganda, de Walque (2007a) shows that increased education attainment has large payoffs in terms of HIV/AIDS reduction. In particular, after the introduction of an HIV/AIDS information campaign in Southwestern Uganda, HIV/AIDS infections decreased by 6 % for individuals with primary education and 12 % for individuals with secondary education.

Another important socioeconomic factor in HIV/AIDS prevalence is gender: females have far higher rates of HIV/AIDS infection than men. Even among sero-discordant couples⁵, women are more likely to be infected (de Walque, 2007b). No conclusive explanation has been provided for these higher rates of HIV/AIDS infection; however, the literature points to a number of contextual factors that may increase female susceptibility to HIV/AIDS infection. First, women become sexually active much earlier than men in SSA, which may increase their lifetime chances of contracting the disease. Second, because of the unequal power relations within most households in developing countries, most women cannot exercise control over their sexuality. Furthermore, because of the lack of empowerment of women in many SSA societies, some are forced to engage in transactional sex. Also, with the exception of expectant mothers, who are regularly tested at sentinel sites, women in SSA are less likely than men to be tested for HIV/AIDS (Gersovitz, 2005).

One of the most examined determinants of HIV/AIDS is poverty. Such authors as Oster (2012) postulate that another reason for the higher HIV/AIDS infection rates in SSA is the generally high level of poverty and low expected future incomes. This supposition is based on the premise that sexual behavior in SSA has not changed drastically despite the onset of the HIV/AIDS epidemic more than 20 years ago. According to Oster, because of the lower valuation of life (at least in monetary terms), most Africans engage in risky sexual behavior despite adequate knowledge

6

⁵ These are sexual relationships in which one partner is HIV positive and the other is HIV negative.

of the potential consequences. However, empirical support for the higher poverty-higher HIV/ AIDS prevalence hypothesis is very limited; most authors do not find a significant impact of poverty on HIV/AIDS prevalence (de Walque, 2009; Lachaud, 2007). In fact, some studies in SSA find that HIV/AIDS prevalence is linked to higher incomes. However, this finding is mainly explained by the higher HIV/AIDS infection rates in urban areas, where most of the well-to-do individuals reside, rather than by incomes per se. In the next subsection, we describe some of the empirical results of the studies that investigate the determinants of HIV/AIDS status.

2.1 Empirical evidence of the determinants of HIV/AIDS status.

There is a vast and growing body of literature on the determinants of HIV/AIDS prevalence and associated sexual behaviors in SSA. Examples of empirical studies from the recent past include de Walque and Kline (2010), Fortson (2008), Glick and Sahn (2008), de Walque (2007a, 2007b), Oster (2005), and Gersovitz (2005). The main focus for most of these studies is why SSA has the highest rates of HIV/AIDS infection in the world. The evidence from these (mainly cross-country) studies is mixed. For example, a number of studies show that the expected relationship between poor health status and low income does not hold for HIV infections (see, e.g., Mishra et al., 2007; and Fortson, 2008). Fortson (2008) uses 5 DHS surveys that tested individuals for HIV/AIDS status to determine that individuals from well-to-do households and those with higher education levels are more likely to be HIV positive. According to Fortson, highly educated men and women are more likely to engage in pre-marital sex, which may increase their susceptibility to HIV infections. Other studies based on both cross-country analysis and country surveys also point to the positive relation between HIV infection status and both risky sexual behaviors and economic status. For instance, Gregson et al. (2001) find a significant relationship between national HIV/AIDS prevalence rates and literacy. Similarly, based on a survey in the Kisumu district in Western Kenya, Luke (2008) finds that wealthier men make proportionally larger monetary or other payments to non-steady sexual partners and that this practice may exacerbate the incidence of unsafe sexual activities, such as unprotected sex, within this population subgroup.

One of the challenges of understanding the causes and impacts of HIV/AIDS using regular surveys has been the identification of HIV-positive individuals. Due to the stigma attached to the disease, only a small proportion of the African population has ever been tested for HIV/AIDS. As such, most of the earlier analysis of HIV/AIDS prevalence relied on sentinel data that were collected mainly from women attending antenatal clinics. Starting in the late 1990s, the DHS surveys pioneered the collection of nationally representative information on HIV knowledge, and more recently, the surveys have tested individuals to more accurately establish sero-prevalence (Mishra *et al.*, 2007).⁶ This recent availability of data has spurred

⁶ By 2009, the following countries in SSA had DHS type surveys with an HIV testing component: Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Tanzania, and Uganda.

research examining an array of issues, and some of the results dispel earlier preconceived notions about the disease. As mentioned earlier, Glick and Sahn (2007) show that the limited testing for HIV among Africans is not due to fear of knowing one's HIV/AIDS status but rather to constrained access to HIV/AIDS testing facilities. de Walque (2009), based on DHS surveys from Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Ghana, and Kenya, finds that male circumcision has no significant impact on HIV/AIDS status. In a related study, focusing only on couples, de Walque (2007b) finds that at least two thirds of infected couples are sero-discordant. In a more recent study, Fortson (2009) finds no significant impact of HIV prevalence on the fertility of women in 12 African countries.

Gersoritz (2005) uses ten DHS surveys for Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia to identify evidence of behavioral change in response to the pandemic. For example, women in Zambia are having sex later because of the fear of HIV/AIDS. In contrast, Glick and Sahn (2008) examine a much larger sample of 16 DHS surveys from eight countries in SSA⁷ and do not find consistent reduction in this regard for women or men. In particular, for women, such results are found only for Benin, Ghana, Mozambique, and Nigeria, while only Uganda and Zambia show a significant increase in the average age of women at their first instance of sexual intercourse. Nonetheless, Glick and Sahn (2008) find consistent favorable changes in at least one indicator of sexual behavior—condom use among unmarried individuals—for both women and men. For women, with the exception of Nigeria, all of the countries studied show significant increases in condom use. For men, the only significant increases in condom use are identified for Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, and Mozambique. For the other indicators of non-risky sexual behavior, such as abstinence and fidelity to one sexual partner, the results vary by country.

⁷ The countries covered are Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Kenya, Mozambique, Nigeria, Uganda, and Zambia.

3.0 METHODOLOGY AND DATA

3.1 Probit estimation of determinants of risk of HIV infection and sexual behavior

Because of the nature of the cross-sectional dataset available and because of econometric concerns, such as omitted variable bias (e.g., preferences in sexual behavior), we do not claim to establish a causal relationship between the risk of HIV infection and socioeconomic status. Instead, we estimate the association between the risk of HIV infection and such factors as educational attainment, spatial location, and marital behavior (i.e., whether a person has ever married or has had multiple marriages). Following previous studies that examined the determinants of HIV infection in Africa (see, e.g., de Walque and Kline 2010; Corno and de Walque, 2007), we estimate a probit model for HIV/AIDS positive status. The reduced-form equation can be formally represented as

(1)
$$\operatorname{Pr}(HIV_{i}=1) = \beta_{o} + \sum_{j} \beta_{1j} A_{ji} + \sum_{m} \beta_{4m} D_{mi} + \varepsilon_{i}$$

where HIV_i represents whether or not an individual i is HIV positive, A_{ji} are individuallevel factors, such as age, gender, marital experience, and educational attainment, D_{mi} are household-level and location factors, such as welfare status and residence in an urban area, and \mathcal{E}_i are unobservable determinants of HIV/AIDS. In the above specification, we do not include variables related to direct sexual behavior (e.g., condom use and extramarital relations), as these would be endogenous. Instead, we estimate similar regressions for the determinants of condom use, extramarital sex and HIV testing. Specifically, we estimate the following additional models:

(2)
$$\Pr(Condom_i = 1) = \beta_o + \sum_j \beta_{1j} A_{ji} + \sum_m \beta_{4m} D_{mi} + \varepsilon_i$$

(3)
$$\Pr(Extra_Marital_i = 1) = \beta_o + \sum_j \beta_{1j} A_{ji} + \sum_m \beta_{4m} D_{mi} + \varepsilon_i$$

(4)
$$\operatorname{Pr}(HIV_test_i = 1) = \beta_o + \sum_j \beta_{1j} A_{ji} + \sum_m \beta_{4m} D_{mi} + \varepsilon_i$$

where $Condom_i = 1$ represents the use of condoms during the person's last instance of sexual intercourse, $Extra_Marital_i = 1$ indicates extramarital sex among individuals who reported being married, and HIV_test_i represents whether an individual has ever been tested. The above estimations are undertaken separately for women and men. The above four specifications help to show whether the determinants of the risk of HIV infection are similar to the determinants of preventive or risky sexual behaviors associated with contracting the HIV virus.

If the determinants of HIV/AIDS infections and sexual behavior are all presented by a vector X, then equations (1)-(4) can be jointly rewritten as

(5)
$$\Pr(S_i = 1) = \Phi(f'X_i)$$

where $S_i = \{HIV_i, Condom_i, Extra_Sex_i\}$ and Φ represent a standard normal cumulative distribution and β' represents the parameters to be estimated. To more accurately interpret the results of the probit estimations, we estimate the marginal effects of the specification in Eq. (4). The marginal effects model is specified as

(6)
$$\frac{\partial [\Phi(\beta' X_j)]}{\partial X_{ij}} = \phi(\beta' X_i)\beta_j$$

The interpretation of the estimations from Eq. (6) is as follows; for example, it indicates the effect of a change in the regressor at the mean on HIV prevalence in the HIV/AIDS infection specification.

3.2 Bivariate probit models for extramarital sex and condom use

In addition to the probit analysis of the factors in extramarital relations and condom use, we conduct a joint estimation of extramarital affairs and condom use. As highlighted by previous authors, such Kazianga (2005) and Djemai (2009), there are important reasons why extramarital sex and condom use may be jointly determined. First, condom use is heavily determined by the nature of one's sexual partners: the desire for procreation may limit the use of condoms with regular partners. Secondly, the traditional probit model for condom use may not adequately account for the degree of HIV-related risk taking.

In its most generic form, the bivariate probit model assumes that the "treatment"—in our case, condom use—has a direct causal effect on the "outcome": i.e., extramarital relations. The model also assumes that both behaviors are influenced by similar unobservable factors. Formally, these concepts can be represented as

(7)
$$y_1^* = \beta_1 X_1 + \varepsilon_1$$

 $y_2^* = \alpha y_1^* + \beta_2 X_2 + \varepsilon_2$
 $y_1 = 1 \text{ if } y_1^* > 0, 0 \text{ otherwise}$
 $y_2 = 1 \text{ if } y_2^* > 0, 0 \text{ otherwise}$

where y_1^* and y_2^* represent the latent variables for extramarital relations and condom use, respectively. X_1 and X_2 refer to individuals and household factors relating to sexual behaviors, respectively. Finally, the error terms follow a bivariate normal distribution and can be approximated by $(\mathcal{E}_1, \mathcal{E}_2) \approx BVN[0, 0, \sigma_1^2, \sigma_2^2, \delta]$, where σ_1^2 and σ_2^2 are standard deviations and δ is the correlation coefficient. As indicated in the formulation (Eq. 7), the dummy variable for extramarital relations appears in the regression equation for condom use. Following Green (2003), the bivariate probit model is estimated using full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimation, and the results are presented in Tables 6 and 7.

3.3. Data

As mentioned earlier, this study uses the most recent nationally representative survey of HIV prevalence in Uganda: the 2011 Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey, conducted by the Ministry of Health in Uganda and ICF International (Ministry of Health et al, 2012). The objective of this survey, which was supported by the US government, was to obtain national and regional prevalence estimates of HIV and syphilis infection in Uganda. In addition, the survey sought to capture information on sexual behaviors and program coverage for HIV related services. In particular, the survey tested for the following sexually transmitted infections (STIs): HIV, syphilis, herpes simplex, and hepatitis b. For HIV positive individuals, the survey established the CD4 count in order to understand the HIV treatment needs. This survey was undertaken during a period of 7 months (February –September 2011) and employed a two-stage cluster sampling design. In the first stage, clusters or enumeration areas were the principal sampling unit, and at least 470 clusters were selected across the country. In the second stage, 25 households were randomly selected from each cluster.

Furthermore, the survey coverage was expansive, with 11,340 households selected for analysis. The survey targeted individuals in the sexually active age category: people aged 15-59 years. Within the selected households, at least 12,153 women and 9,983 men were in the reproductive age group and were thus eligible for interview and STI testing. All eligible women and men were asked to voluntarily provide a blood sample for testing STIs. For children ages 15-17 years, consent for testing was sought from parents or guardians. Of all individuals eligible for interview and testing, 96.8 % of the women and 94.1 % of the men could be tested.⁸ Of the eligible individuals who could not be tested, approximately half declined to be tested, and the rest were absent at the time of the survey. Overall, 17,000 individuals (8,990 women and 7,915 men) aged 15-49 years were tested, and this is the sample that was used in our analysis. In addition to determining HIV status, the survey also addressed the regular DHS indicators, including educational attainment, reproductive history, sexual activity, and knowledge and attitudes regarding STIs. Below, we describe the particular variables used in our analysis.

3.4 Variables used.

3.4.1 Dependent variables

HIV Infection status: As noted earlier, the survey tested eligible women and men for HIV and other STIs. The results of the laboratory tests indicate which individuals are HIV positive, and this is our indicator of HIV infection.

Condom Use: For individuals who had had sex in the past 12 months, the survey asked

⁸ The variance between women and men is because men were more likely to be absent from home than women.

whether they used a condom during their last sexual encounter. We use this information as the dependent variable, condom use.

Concurrent sexual relations: The survey asked questions about number of partners with whom the respondents had had sex in the 12 months preceding the survey, the types of relationships that they had with these partners, and the overall number of sexual partners that they had had in their lives. Within the realm of multiple sexual partners, we focus on concurrent sexual relationships as these are considered more risky than for example polygamous unions (Ministry of Health, et al., 2012). Following the UNAIDS classification, concurrent sexual relations are defined as 'overlapping sexual partnerships where intercourse with one partner occurs between two acts of intercourse with another partner' (UNAIDS, 2009). We consider two variants of concurrent sexual relationships: occurring in the past 6 months (point estimate) and occurring in the past 12 months (cumulative estimate).

Alcohol use during sex: For sexually active individuals over the past one year, the survey inquired whether the respondent or their partners drunk alcohol during the last sexual act over the past 12 months. We define alcohol use if at least one sexual partner was drunk.

HIV testing: The respondents were also asked how many times they had ever taken an HIV test and whether they had collected the results and whether they have ever tested as a couple. In addition, women are asked if they had received the test as part of their antenatal services. We define three variables relating to HIV testing: (1) Having ever taken an HIV test; (2) Having ever taken an HIV test as a couple; and (3) Having received an HIV test as part of antenatal visit. *Abstinence:* One of the major hallmarks for Uganda's HIV prevention strategy has been abstinence. We include a variable for "Never had sex" as one of indicators for sexual behaviours.

STI infecction: For all individuals sexually active during the past year, the survey inquired whether they had an STI or symptoms of STI. Self reported STI infection is included as another sexual activity indicator.

3.4.2 Independent variables

Demographics: To capture each individual's demographic characteristics, we consider the following indicators: age and marital status (widowed, divorced, separated, and so on). The age of the individual is meant to indicate the extent of the person's susceptibility to STIs. The other demographic variable, marital status, is meant to reflect polygamy, which increases the number of regular sexual partners. In addition, we include variables related to reproductive health, such male circumcision. As noted in the literature review, some studies suggest that individuals who are circumcised will be less likely to contract HIV.

Socioeconomic characteristics: The major socioeconomic characteristics are related to educational attainment and wealth status. We include two major variables to capture to capture education attainment: number of completed years for primary and secondary school. Apart from representing the accumulated human capital of the individual, the education variables may also signal an individual's ability to receive and process health information. The survey, similar to the regular DHS surveys, did not solicit information on household income and did not capture information on household consumption, an effective income proxy. Following earlier studies that have utilized DHS-type surveys without income information (e.g., Ssewanyana and Younger, 2008; Sahn and Stifel, 2003), we use an asset index as a proxy for household income or wealth.

Religious affiliation: As demonstrated by previous authors (e.g. Glick and Sahn, 2009 for Madagascar), religious beliefs and influences can be important determinants of sexual behaviours and consequently the risk of HIV infection. We include dummy variables for the majorly religious denomination i.e. Catholics, Anglican, Moslems, and other religious denominations (Pentecostals, bahai etc).

Location variables: To capture the environment faced by the individual, we include dummies for urban location. We also include regional dummies to capture location heterogeneity and ethnicity. The means of the key variables, disaggregated by gender, are provided in Table 1.

	Women	Men
Sexual behaviour		
Age at first intercourse (years)	16.7	18.2
Age at first marriage/Cohabitation (years)	17.8	22.5
Concurrent sexual relationship in past 6 months	0.005	0.068
Concurrent sexual relationship in past 12 months	0.022	0.207
Used a condom with sexual partner	0.036	0.098
Engaged in sex when one of partners is drunk	0.195	0.243
Never had sex: Abstinence	0.128	0.178
Self-Reported STI in past 12 months	0.204	0.113
HIV Testing and Status		
Ever tested for HIV	0.698	0.469
Ever tested for HIV more than once	0.529	0.331
Tested for HIV as part of antenatal visit	0.556	-
Male circumcision	-	0.2673
HIV Infection: Positive	0.084	0.061
Self-reported chance of contracting HIV: High	0.332	0.223
Self-reported chance of contracting HIV: Low	0.490	0.639
CD4 count below 350	0.026	0.023
Receiving Anti-retroviral therapies	0.021	0.015

Table 1:Descriptive statistics for variables used , 15-49 years

HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.

	14/	
	women	ivien
Age category		
15-19 years	0.067	0.010
20-24 years	0.232	0.109
25-29 years	0.231	0.205
30-39 years	0.308	0.395
40-49 years	0.161	0.281
Years of primary education	5.29	5.74
Years of secondary education	0.88	1.57
Log of asset index	0.462	0.447
Marital status		
Single	0.236	0.368
Married	0.656	0.771
Living with partner	0.183	0.137
Widowed	0.040	0.008
Divorced/Separated	0.121	0.083
In a polygamous marriage	0.197	-
Religious affiliation		
Roman Catholic	0.39	0.43
Anglican	0.34	0.35
Moslem	0.14	0.13
Other religious denominations	0.13	0.10
urban	0.20	0.18
Regional location	0.20	0.20
Central 1	0 122	0 122
Central 2	0.108	0 104
Kampala	0.075	0.063
Fast Central	0.111	0 104
Mid-Eastern	0.105	0.099
North East	0.105	0.085
West Nile	0.080	0.085
Mid Northern	0.003	0.071
South Wostern	0.031	0.122
Nid Western	0.127	0.102
Community lovel variables	0.118	0.128
Community level variables	0.27	0.35
Share of men in the community circumcised	0.27	0.25
Distance to market (kms)	3.27	3.43
Distance to health facility (kms)	3.47	3.66
Share of individuals tested for HIV in the community	0.604	0.600
Number of observations	8,990	7,915

Source: Author's calculations from the 2011 Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Descriptive results of sexual behavior and HIV program coverage.

Table 2 shows how individual sexual behavior varies by gender and also age category particularly the youth aged 15-24 years. With regard to marital status, at least 25% of all women aged 15-49 years are in a polygamous relationship. The average age at first sexual intercourse for women is 16.6 years while their average age at marriage is 17.6. The corresponding statistics for men are 17.8 years and 22.5 years respectively. The above figures suggest that most women marry within one year of their sexual debut while men take on average 5 years from sexual debut to marriage. Table 2 also shows that at least 30% of the young women and 44% of young men aged 15-24 years are yet to initiate sexual activity i.e. are abstaining from sex. Concurrent sexual relationships are predominant among men; among women, it is women resident in urban areas that exhibit concurrent relationships in the past 12 months—3.5%. Also worth noting is that 6.3% of male youth were engaged in concurrent sexual relationships during the past 12 months. Finally, alcohol use during sex is significant in both women and men.

5
Ň
S
8
<u>چ</u>
m
4
, Î
1
0
50
Ö
S
le
Ë
ē
-2
÷
2
a
ō
2
e B
00
2
S
ᅻ
g
st
_
5
ž
Ū
ല
Ξ
•—
p
5
(U)
ള
1
St
ĕ

>
Ŧ
<u> </u>
ູທີ
0
÷
Ъ.
Ĕ
Ð
9
5
ž
ð
S
••
2
Ð
9
a
Ε.

		Ň	men			2	Aen	
	AII			Young				
	women	Locat	tion	women	All Men	Locat	tion	Young Men
		Urban	Rural	15-24 vears		Urban	Rural	15-24 vears
Marital status								
Currently married=1	50.9	34.1	55.4	31.5	48.4	34.9	51.7	12.5
Living with partner=1	12.7	17.1	11.4	10.3	8.8	13.3	7.7	3.4
Women in a polygamous marriage=1	25.1	20.8	25.9	15.9	I	ı	ī	1
Sexual relations								
Age at first intercourse (years)	16.6	16.9	16.5	16.3	17.8	17.8	17.8	16.3
Age at first marriage/Cohabitation (years)	17.6	18.6	17.4	17.1	22.5	24.3	22.2	19.8
Abstinence: Never had sex=1	12.8	15.2	12.2	30.3	17.9	17.1	18.1	44.4
Concurrent sexual partners in past 6 months	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.1	4.6	2.8	4.8	0.2
Concurrent sexual partners in past 12 months	2	3.5	1.6	2.1	14.8	14	15	6.3
Used a condom during the last sex=1	5.2	10.4	3.8	6.9	11.2	20.3	8.9	12.5
Used alcohol during sex=1	17	10.7	18.7	8.2	16.9	12.6	17.9	4.9
Had STI in past 12 months=1	16.1	17.4	15.8	11	8.6	8.1	8.7	4.7
Use of sexual reproductive services								
Circumcised	ı	ı	·	ı	26.5	37.4	23.8	26.5
Ever tested for HIV	6.69	78.1	67.6	61.7	46.9	59.1	44	32.9
Ever tested for HIV more than once	52.9	63	50.1	43.9	31.3	42.2	28.6	18.2
Tested for HIV as a couple	21.4	22.7	21	18.9	19.7	20.3	19.5	6.5
Tested as part of antenatal visit	43.1	42.6	43.2	36.8	ī			ı
HIV Infection status: HIV Positive	8.3	10.7	7.7	5.1	6.1	6.1	6.1	2.2
Among infected individuals								
Ever undertaken CD4 count test	31.8	35.6	30.4	12.3	20.9	24.5	20.1	3.4
CD4 count below 350 (Based on the 2011 UAIS)	25.4	27.1	24.6	16.5	25.6	39.3	22.2	5.9
Accessing ARVs	21.5	27.3	19.4	7.6	15.7	19.1	14.9	1.9
Self-Perceived HIV Risk: (What are the chances that you can get	HIV: High o	r Low?)						
High	29.8	26.5	30.6	27.1	20	21.2	19.8	17
Low	52.5	56.7	51.4	57.9	66.2	67.5	65.9	69.8
Do not know	17.7	16.8	18	15	13.8	11.3	14.3	13.2
Sub Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Source: Author's calculations from the 2011 Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey

Economic Policy Research Centre - EPRC

With regard to testing for HIV virus, Table 2 shows that more women than men have tested for HIV. At least 70% of women have tested for HIV compared to 47% for men. The higher testing rates among women may be attributed to receiving tests during the regular antenatal visits. Furthermore, there is significant urban in testing with average rates in urban areas at least 10 percentages higher than average national rates. A large proportion of individuals have tested more than while only about 20% of individuals have tested for HIV as couple—the rates are about similar in both rural and urban areas.

With regard to HIV infection, the average rate among women is 8.3% compared to 6.1% for men. Whereas the HIV infection rates for men are similar across spatial location, for women, HIV infection rates are higher for urban residents by at least 3 percentage points. Among HIV positive individuals, only 31% of women and 20% of men have undertaken a CD4 count test to establish their immunity levels. Based on the CD4 count test results from the survey, at least one in four individuals have a CD4 count below 350—a level below which the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends starting antiretroviral therapy (WHO, 2010). On the other hand, Table 2 shows that only about 20% of individuals are accessing ARTs—with a higher proportion of HIV positive women than men accessing ARVs.

4.2 Determinants of sexual behaviors

Table 3 shows the determinants of key sexual behaviors that increase the risk of HIV infection. The first dependent variable equal one if an individuals has had concurrent sexual relations in the past year and the estimations are undertaken separately for women and men. It is indicated that older women (aged 40-49 years) are least likely to engage in concurrent sexual relations compared to women aged 15-19 years; the few women who engage in concurrent sexual relations are relations are resident in urban areas. On the other hand, middle aged men are significantly more likely to maintain concurrent sexual relations. In particular, men aged 20-29 years are about 7% more likely to maintain concurrent sexual relations than men aged 15-19 years, all else held constant. It is also worth noting that many in polygamous marriage are significantly less likely to engage in such extra marital sex.

We do not find any significant influence of education attainment on maintaining concurrent sexual relations over the past year—for both women and men. Similarly, there is no significant impact of wealth as a driver of extra-marital sex for both women and men. Furthermore, the interactions of education and wealth as well as wealth and age are insignificant. Men who subscribe to smaller religious denominations (about 10% of the male sample, see Table 1) are more faithful compared to men that subscribe to the other major religious denominations. Finally, we also experimented with a fixed effects specification (not indicated in the table) for determinants of concurrent sexual partners and the results remained largely the same.

The second sexual behaviour we consider is the use of a condom during the last sexual encounter. Advocacy for the use of condoms has been a major component of Uganda's ABC strategy and it important to understand which groups consistently use condoms—possibly as means of preventing the spread of STIs including the HIV virus. The results in Table 3 reveal that condoms are mainly used by young women aged 20-25 years while older women are 10% less likely to use condoms. In addition, higher education attainment of women is significantly associated with condom use—each additional year of secondary education increases condom use by about 10% compared to individuals without education. The education impacts are absent for men with regard to condom use. It is also worth noting that the interaction terms for education, age, and wealth are all significant unlike the case for men.

For determinants of condom use, we include cluster level variables for access to health services—to proxy supply level variables for access to health services. In particular, we include indicators for cluster level of male circumcision and HIV testing—both proxies for use of health services and the log of distance to nearest health facility. The results in Table 3 show that only the distance to clinic that is significant and for women. Each additional kilometer reduces condom use by women by as much as 20%. Given that increasing distance can be interpreted as cost, this particular finding suggests that there is limited access to condoms among poorer individuals located in rural areas.

We also estimated separate regressions for young women and men (aged 15-4 years) due to possible life cycle effects and the fact that wealth may not matter as much for younger than older persons. The results (presented in Table A1 in the appendix), show that education is more important for younger women than older women with regard to the use of condoms. In addition, wealth effects do not matter for young persons and urban young women are more likely to use condom—a situation similar to the practice of concurrent partners. Turning to young men, Table A1 shows that there are important wealth, education, and age impacts with regard to using condoms and this suggests that condoms may be costly for young men to acquire. However, the supply level variables are insignificant.

The other major sexual behaviour we consider is alcohol use during sex. Table 3 shows that young women are significantly more likely to be drunk during the last sexual encounter. On the other hand, it is mainly men aged 20-29 years who were more likely to be drunk during the last sex episode. Among men, it is mainly widowed and men in polygamous unions who use alcohol during sex. With regard to young men (aged 15-24 years), it mainly those in urban areas that use alcohol (Table A1).

8	ncurrent se	kual relations	with past 12	Co	ndom use du	ring past 1	.2 months		Alcohol us	e during s	2X
	[0.28]		[1.91]*		[0.01]		[0.93]		[2.51]**		[2.03]**
30-39 years-0.01	3 -0.315	0.046	0.222	-0.007	-0.065	-0.02	-0.119	0.1	0.445	0.048	0.237
	[0.92]		[1.03]		[0.23]		[0.54]		[2.23]**		[1.04]
40-49 years-0.02	3 -0.768	-0.009	-0.044	-0.034	-0.411	-0.091	-0.666	0.072	0.319	0.01	0.053
	$[1.83]^*$		[0.16]		[1.08]		[2.25]**		[1.26]		[0.18]
Years of primary education 0.00	4 0.074	0.016	0.08	0.011	0.106	0.006	0.037	-0.001	-0.004	-0.021	-0.105
	[0.72]		[1.06]		[1.18]		[0.46]		[0.07]		[1.23]
Years of secondary education 0	0.001	0.001	0.004	0.01	0.093	0.006	0.035	-0.003	-0.014	-0.011	-0.058
	[0.02]		[0.12]		[2.13]**		[0.94]		[0.53]		[1.63]
Log (Age X Education years) -0.98-	4 -20.583	1.114	5.582	-4.406	-42.662	-2.664	-15.377	-0.164	-0.802	0.807	4.139
	[1.18]		[0.42]		$[1.80]^{*}$		[96.0]		[0.08]		[0.26]
Log of asset index -1.98	-41.403	2.092	10.486	-8.774	-84.961	-5.453	-31.472	-0.502	-2.454	1.285	6.59
	[1.21]		[0.40]		[1.82]*		[1.00]		[0.12]		[0.21]
Log (Age X Asset Index) 1.01:	5 21.219	-0.921	-4.619	4.434	42.936	2.829	16.329	0.296	1.446	-0.537	-2.754
	[1.23]		[0.35]		$[1.83]^{*}$		[1.04]		[0.14]		[0.18]
Log (Education X Asset Index) 0.96	1 20.096	-1.154	-5.784	4.331	41.935	2.643	15.253	0.149	0.73	-0.75	-3.847
	[1.18]		[0.45]		$[1.80]^{*}$		[0.98]		[0.07]		[0.25]
Marital status											
Married-0.00	3 -0.069	0.574	6.945	-0.081	-0.813	-0.519	-4.801	0.087	0.43	-0.409	-4.91
	[0.58]		[102.87]***		[8.93]***		[62.76]***		[5.40]***		[48.64]***
Living with partner 0.00	3 0.063	0.821	7.16	-0.051	-0.664	-0.172	-4.704	0.1	0.432	-0.207	-4.87
	[0.48]		[]		[6.62]***		[:		[4.98]***		Ē
Widowed-0.01	7 -0.662	-0.091	-0.627	-0.018	-0.194	-0.041	-0.279	-0.033	-0.174	-0.05	-0.284
	$[1.84]^*$		$[1.90]^{*}$		[1.21]		[0.95]		[1.32]		[0.93]
Divorced/separated 0.00	7 0.128	-0.02	-0.106	-0.028	-0.319	-0.005	-0.026	0.03	0.139	0.114	0.511
	[0.98]		[0.78]		[3.54]***		[0.20]		[1.47]		[4.48]***
In polygamous union-0.00.	2 -0.04	-0.463	-6.586	-0.011	-0.112	0.422	4.246	0.017	0.083	0.546	5.323

Table 3: Determinants of sexual behaviors - probit model results

Cor	ncurrent sex	tual relations months	with past 12	Col	ndom use du	ring past 1.	2 months		Alcohol us	e during s	Xe
	[0.37]		[72.33]***		[1.16]		[45.07]***		[1.48]		[47.60]***
Religious affiliation									1		
Anglican -0.002	2 -0.039	-0.009	-0.045	0.004	0.034	0.002	0.014	-0.021	-0.104	-0.022	-0.116
	[0.43]		[0.98]		[0.51]		[0.28]		[2.24]*		[2.18]*
Moslem 0	-0.003	0.02	0.095	-0.003	-0.032	0.017	0.093	-0.133	-0.919	-0.159	-1.222
	[0.03]		[1.51]		[0.39]		[1.17]		[7.97]***		$[10.84]^{***}$
Other Denominations-0.002	2 -0.047	-0.074	-0.439	-0.016	-0.173	-0.072	-0.53	-0.073	-0.412	-0.14	-1.016
	[0.39]		[5.66]***		[1.88]		[5.96]***		[6.42]***		$[10.21]^{***}$
Urban 0.015	8 0.333	0.017	0.086	0.009	0.085	0.028	0.151	0.03	0.144	0.045	0.222
	[2.99]**	*	[1.07]		[0.93]		[1.52]		[1.62]		[1.44]
Regional Location	YES				YES				YES		
Cluster level for male circumcision				-0.005	-0.053	-0.016	-0.091				
					[0.46]		[0.74]				
Cluster level testing for HIV/ AIDS				0.016	0.153	0.062	0.357				
					[0.73]		[1.92]				
Log of distance to clinic				-0.023	-0.22	0.006	0.034				
					[3.81]**		[0.65]				
Constant	-3.221		-5.276		-0.692		-4.202		-3.452		-6.231
	$[1.98]^*$		[5.28]***		[0.43]		[3.20]***		[3.84]***		[5.28]***
Observations 8990	0668 0	7915	7915	0668	8990	7915	7915	8990	8990	7915	7915

4.3 HIV/AIDS testing behavior and male circumcision

As mentioned previously, the limited knowledge that individuals have about their HIV/AIDS status is seen as one reason why the HIV virus spread at fast pace in SSA. In Uganda, HIV testing coverage has increased tremendously in the past seven years—from 15% for women and 12% for men aged 15-49 years in 2004/5 to over 69 for women and 47% for men by 2011 (Table 1). Notwithstanding the relatively high HIV testing coverage rates, we examine the determinants of ever testing for women and men. The survey asks how many times an individual has tested for HIV/AIDS prior to the survey; whether tests were undertaken as couple; and whether HIV tests were received as part a routine antenatal visit (for women).

The marginal effects of the determinants of HIV/AIDS testing are reported in first part of Table 4. It is indicated that higher education attainment of women is associated with increased testing; each additional year of secondary education increases the likelihood of HIV testing by about 2.6%. Education is of also of particular importance to men—each year of secondary education increase the likelihood of HIV testing by 3.6%, all else constant. However, the interaction terms between education and wealth are insignificant for both women and men. It is also worth noting that there are no significant differences in the drivers of HIV testing between rural and urban areas. Table 4 also shows that men in polygamous marriages are significantly less likely to be tested for HIV than individuals who are single men. For cluster level variables, an increase in the distance of the clinic significantly reduces HIV testing among women and this suggests that there are some costs involved in accessing HIV related services. On the other hand, supply level proxies are insignificant for the male regressions and this suggests that higher than average female testing may be driven by access to antennal services, an issue we examine below.

As earlier mentioned, the survey inquiries from married individuals whether they tested as couple. Columns 5-8 of Table show the results for testing as couple and the results indicate that younger and middle aged individuals are more likely to test as couple. Furthermore, higher education attainment is associated with an increased and significant likelihood of both women and men testing as couple. On the other hand, community level variables appear unimportant for testing as a couple. Finally, Table 4 also examines which women are likely to receive an HIV test during routine antennal visits. The results presented in columns 9 and 10 indicates that it mainly women in the prime of child bearing that use antenatal services and receive testing as part of the services. Distance to health facilities is major determinant of whether when receive HIV tests at antennal clinics.

		Ever take	n an HIV te	st		Taken HIV te	ist as a coup	e				
	>	Vomen	-	Men	Mo	men	Σ	en	Women T Antena	est part of tal visit	Men: Ever	circumcised
	Margin	al Coefficien	t Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient
	Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect	
Age category												
20-24 year	rs 0.142	0.54	0.1	0.295	0.127	0.446	0.146	0.603	0.231	0.761	0.006	0.032
		[7.17]***		[3.32]***		$[5.01]^{***}$		[4.03]***		[9.67]***		[0:30]
25-29 year	rs 0.119	0.453	0.14	0.409	0.106	0.373	0.186	0.752	0.255	0.826 -	0.019	-0.105
		[3.86]***		$[3.41]^{***}$		[2.79]***		$[4.10]^{***}$		[6.97]***		[0.72]
30-39 year	rs 0.001	0.004	0.098	0.285	0.055	0.2	0.174	0.73	0.131	0.437 -	0.074	-0.434
		[0.02]		[1.72]		[1.14]		[3.02]***		[2.67]***		[2.08]*
40-49 year	rs-0.132	-0.447	0.027	0.079	0.017	0.065	0.142	0.588 -	0.102	-0.337 -	0.12	-0.78
		[2.08]**		[0.35]		[0.27]		$[1.85]^{*}$		[1.49]		[2.83]**
Years of primary education	0.028	0.1	0.03	0.088	0.017	0.066	0.014	0.062	0.024	0.079	0.031	0.168
		[2.14]**		[1.36]		[1.22]		[0.76]		[1.50]		[2.18]**
Years of secondary education	0.026	0.094	0.036	0.105	0.027	0.104	0.017	0.075	0.012	0.04	0.013	0.072
		[4.06]***		[3.46]***		[4.02]***		[1.92]*		[1.65]		[2.19]**
Log (Age X Education years)	-3.937	-14.142	-5.061	-14.837	-4.682	-17.711	-5.154	-23.045 -	7.807	-26.132	4.559	-24.983
		[1.48]		[1.10]		[1.59]		[1.09]		[2.51]**		$[1.83]^{*}$
Log of asset index	-7.928	-28.482	-10.083	-29.558	-9.204	-34.819	-10.228	-45.731 -	15.319	-51.277 -	9.059	-49.64
		[1.51]		[1.11]		[1.59]		[1.09]		[2.51]**		$[1.85]^{*}$
Log (Age X Asset Index)	4.079	14.652	5.166	15.143	4.648	17.585	5.168	23.108	7.659	25.635	4.703	25.769
		[1.54]		[1.13]		[1.60]		[1.09]		[2.49]**		$[1.91]^{*}$
Log (Education X Asset Index)	3.845	13.811	4.967	14.56	4.567	17.276	5.075	22.692	7.652	25.613	4.416	24.195
		[1.48]		[1.10]		[1.59]		[1.09]		[2.52]**		$[1.81]^{*}$
Marital status												
Marrie	d 0.264	0.924	0.59	5.668	0.201	0.765	-0.37	-4.191	0.431	1.453 -	0.483	-4.319
		[15.88]***	×	[79.29]***		$[11.50]^{***}$		[65.90]***		$[21.17]^{***}$		[47.29]***
Living with partne	er 0.217	0.937	0.541	5.705	0.186	0.622	-0.232	-4.297	0.376	1.356 -	0.305	-4.321
		[13.52]**				[7.42]**		[]		$[17.86]^{**}$		[]

Table 4: Determinants of HIV Testing and Male circumcision-Probit model estimates

		Ever taker	an HIV tes	L		Taken HIV te	st as a coup	le				
	Ň	omen	2	len	Wo	men	Σ	en	Women T Antena	est part of tal visit	Men: Ever	circumcised
	Marginal	Coefficient	: Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient
	Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect	
Widowe	d 0.192	0.877	0.231	0.708	0.131	0.438	0.163	0.631	0.225	0.788	-0.016	-0.089
		[7.52]***		[3.09]***		[3.37]***		[2.48]**		[6.78]***		[0.27]
Divorced/separate	d 0.192	0.834	0.097	0.286	0.131	0.449	0.113	0.458	0.311	1.124	0.037	0.189
		[10.36]***		[3.64]***		[5.02]***		[4.17]***		[14.46]***		[1.71]
In polygamous unio	n 0.01	0.035	-0.394	-5.289	0.045	-0.176	0.595	5.215	0.011	-0.036	0.474	4.399
		[0.57]		[60.54]***		[3.48]***		[48.29]***		[0.72]		$[41.51]^{***}$
Religious affiliation												
Anglica	n 0.015	0.053	-0.003	-0.008	0.005	-0.019 -	0.012	-0.052	0.011	0.036	0.028	0.15
		[1.22]		[0.20]		[0.42]		[1.04]		[0.86]		[2.49]**
Mosler	n 0.03	0.11	0.022	0.065	0.026	0.097	0.002	0.008	0.024	0.082	0.793	3.216
		$[1.85]^{*}$		[1.10]		[1.49]		[0.12]		[1.49]		[22.15]***
Other Denomination	1s 0.021	0.076	0.052	0.153	0.025	0.092	0.053	0.224	0.014	-0.048	0.047	0.242
		[1.22]		[2.26]**		[1.54]		[3.25]***		[0.78]		[3.30]***
Urban	0.059	0.217	0.03	0.088	0.003	-0.012	0.015	0.065	0.027	0.09	0.053	0.274
		$[2.31]^{**}$		[1.09]		[0.16]		[0.63]		[1.36]		[1.58]
Cluster level for male circumcision	-0.074	-0.267	-0.05	-0.147	0.012	0.044 -	0.005	-0.022	0.064	-0.216		
		[2.28]**		[1.33]		[0.41]		[0.16]		$[2.01]^{**}$		
Cluster level testing for HIV/ AIDS											-0.177	-0.972
												[3.06]***
Log of distance to clinic	-0.064	-0.229	-0.015	-0.044	0.004	-0.017 -	0.001	-0.003	0.039	-0.13	-0.021	-0.117
		[4.03]***		[0.86]		[0.33]		[0.05]		[2.37]**		[1.10]
Constant		-1.619		-1.667		-0.797		-2.354		0.729		-2.888
		[2.00]**		[1.54]		[0.86]		[1.87]*		[0.79]		[2.48]**
Observations	8,990	8,990	7,915	7,915	8,990	. 066'8	7,915	7,915	8,990	8,990	7,915	7,915

As part of the Ministry of Health's campaign to reduce HIV transmission, Uganda has implemented a large scale safe male circumcision campaign in the past 2 years. As such, the final two columns in Table 4 examine the correlates of male circumcision and it is indicated that it mainly younger and middle aged men that are undertaking circumcision. Also education attainment is important as factor in encouraging male circumcision. At the cluster level, high rates of HIV/AIDS testing are associated with reduced likelihood of male circumcision.

4.4 Determinants of the risk of HIV infection and self-perceived chances of contracting HIV.

Table 5 reports the marginal effects and coefficients for the determinants of risk of HIV infection for women and men. The results for women indicate that higher educational attainment is important for reducing the risk of infection. Each additional year of either primary or secondary schooling reduces the risk of HIV infection among women by 2%. The education results for men are counter-intuitive—additional years of education of primary and secondary education area associated with increasing risk of infection.

With regard to demographics, widows are most likely to be infected with HIV. In particular, widows are as much as 20% more likely to be infected than single individuals. This may be partly explained by fact HIV/AIDS may have been the reason for the loss of spouses for a majority of widows. Related, divorced/separated individuals have a 9% higher chance of being infected with HIV. Whereas women in polygamous marriages have a 2% higher chance of being infected, about 1 in 2 men in polygamous marriages are infected with HIV. Finally, Moslem women and men have lower chance of HIV infection compared to their catholic counterparts, after accounting for the higher likelihood of polygamous marriages among Moslems.

Similar to other studies on HIV/AIDS status in SSA (see, e.g., Corno and De Walque 2007 for Lesotho), our results indicate that the risk of HIV infection increases with household wealth status; however, the direct wealth impacts are only significant for women. With regard to location, urban residence increases the risk of HIV infection by over 3% for women while no significant differences are registered for men. Access to health facilities is not important for women but for men, increasing proximity to health facilities is associated with a reduced likelihood of HIV infection.

Self-reported chances of contracting HIV: HIV Infection (Positive=1) High Women Men Women Men Marginal Coefficient Marginal Coefficient Marginal Coefficient Marginal Coefficient Effect Effect Effect Effect Age category 0.175 20-24 years 0.066 0.431 -0.013 -0.13 0.059 0.04 0.149 [0.90] [2.27]** [3.12]*** [1.63] 25-29 years 0.066 0.424 -0.032 -0.36 0.081 0.235 0.001 0.005 [2.19]** [1.69] [1.95]* [0.03] 30-39 years 0.076 0.49 -0.019 -0.183 0.068 0.201 -0.014 -0.056 [1.88]* [0.69] [1.15] [0.30] -0.042 -0.456 0.017 -0.056 40-49 years 0.034 0.23 0.049 -0.232 [0.68] [1.35] [0.22] [0.96] Years of primary education -0.023 -0.178 -0.003 -0.027 0.031 0.094 -0.007 -0.029 [2.40]** [1.97]** [0.31] [0.47] Years of secondary education -0.02 -0.15 -0.005 -0.044 0.014 0.043 -0.001 -0.002 [4.10]*** [1.08] [1.85]* [0.08] Log (Age X Education years) 6.189 47.001 1.086 10.267 -8.826 -26.568 -4.201 -16.236 [4.06]*** [1.34] [0.64] [2.58]* Log of asset index 12.129 92.108 2.04 19.289 -17.329 -52.164 -8.526 -32.949 [4.06]* [0.61] [2.57]** [1.38] -0.955 4.273 Log (Age X Asset Index) -6.106 -46.367 -9.026 8.712 26.225 16.513 [4.05]*** [0.56] [2.57]** [1.37] Log (Education X Asset -10.087 8.619 25.945 4.204 Index) -6.026 -45.759 -1.067 16.246 [4.07]*** [0.64] [2.57]** [1.36] Marital status Married-0.01 -0.079 -0.469 -4.132 0.045 0.134 -0.471 -4.618 [0.82] [41.03]*** [2.19]** [51.85]** Living with partner 0.01 0.076 -0.119 -3.925 0.112 0.32 -0.232 -4.529 [4.40]*** [0.73] [.] [.] 0.942 Widowed 0.212 -0.063 -0.201 0.028 0.103 0.966 0.179 [3.70]*** [7.12]*** [1.74]* [0.40] Divorced/separated 0.09 0.529 0.088 0.587 0.055 0.161 0.024 0.091 [5.03]*** [4.42]*** [2.16]** [0.78] 0.489 In polygamous union 0.023 0.165 0.459 0.344 4.266 0.121 4.614 [2.27]** [34.70]*** [7.53]*** [46.28]** Religious affiliation -0.089 0.005 -0.099 Anglican-0.011 0.001 0.006 0.019 -0.025 [0.09] [2.02]* [1.52][0.45] -0.024 0.054 0.027 Moslem-0.019 -0.159 -0.262 0.159 0.101 [2.89]*** [2.14]* [2.43]* [1.24] Other Denominations-0.01 -0.078 -0.011 -0.114 -0.016 -0.05 -0.03 -0.12 [0.95] [1.16] [0.89] [1.81] Urban 0.035 0.244 0.02 -0.041 0.043 0.159 0.178 -0.124 [2.45]** [1.51] [1.32] [1.53] Sub Region 0.043 -0.035 -0.109 0.089 Central 1 0.282 0.061 0.447 0.311 [3.45]** [2.67]*** [2.25]* [1.12] Central 2 0.018 0.127 0.055 0.415 0.062 0.18 0.082 0.29 [3.20]*** [1.99]** [1.07] [1.82]* East central 0.002 0.012 0.056 0.418 -0.07 -0.223 0.036 0.135 [2.71]*** [1.93]* [1.05] [0.08] Mid-eastern -0.025 0.039 0.305 0.078 0.225 0.114 0.393 -0.217 [2.91]*** [1.57] [1.46] [1.70]* North east -0.024 -0.201 0.032 0.256 0.009 0.027 -0.06 -0.254 [1.61] [1.30] [1.65] [0.21] West Nile -0.027 0.03 0.245 -0.065 -0.204 -0.07 -0.229 -0.3 [2.14]** [1.53] [1.45] [1.78]* Mid northern 0.02 0.144 0.024 0.205 0.057 0.166 0.034 0.128

[1.19]

[1.02]

Table 5: Determinants of HIV Infection and perception about the high risk of HIV infection

[0.86]

[1.05]

HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.

		HIV Infection	n (Positive=	=1)	Self-rep	orted chand H	es of contr ligh	acting HIV:
	W	omen	ſ	Vlen	Wo	omen	ſ	vlen
	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient	Marginal	Coefficient
	Effect		Effect		Effect		Effect	
South western	0.019	0.136	0.031	0.249	0.025	0.074	0.109	0.375
	0.000	[1.08]	0.047	[1.83]*	0.000	[0.57]	0.040	[2.61]***
Mid-western	0.022	0.153	0.047	0.361	-0.036	-0.111	-0.048	-0.199
		[1.30]		[2.43]**		[1.01]		[1.65]
Sexual behaviors								
Had concurrent sexual								
relations					0.066	0.191	0.086	0.304
						[1.67]*		[5.60]***
Used condom every time w nartners	ith				-0.009	-0 028	-0.003	-0 013
partiters					0.005	[0 39]	0.005	[0 18]
Alcohol use during sex					0.026	0.078	0.067	0.242
Alcohol use during sex					0.020	[1 60]*	0.007	[1 02]***
STI in the past 12 month					0.071	0.207	0.08	0.28
Strin the past 12 month					0.071	[E 17]***	0.08	[1 21]***
Mala circumcision						[5.17]	0.012	[4.54]
							0.012	[0 79]
Cluster/Community level								[0.76]
Cluster level testing for								
	0.042	0 221	0.044	0 412	0.021	0.062	0.054	0 211
TIV/AIDS	0.042	0.321 [1 7E]*	0.044	0.412	0.021	[0 21]	0.034	[1 1 4]
Log of distance to clinic	0.005	[1.75]	0.012	[2.05]	0	0.001	0.005	[1.14]
Log of distance to clinic	0.005	0.050	0.015	U.110	0	-0.001	-0.005	-0.010
Cluster level for male		[0.63]		[1.84]		[0.03]		[0.31]
cluster lever for male			0.022	0.207			0.021	0.002
CITCUTICISION			-0.022	-0.207			-0.021	-0.083
Constant		F (()				0.022		[U.67]
Constant		-5.001		-0.01		0.923		-1./39
	0.000	[4./3]***	7.045	[4.97]***	0000	[0.97]	7045	[1./2]*
Observations	8,990	8,990	7,915	7,915	8990	8990	7915	7915

As earlier mentioned, the survey inquired from individuals about the self-reported chances of contracting HIV. The possible answers were: high chance; low chance; and do not know. These qualitative responses are important since a large proportion of individuals consider themselves to be at a high risk of contracting HIV/AIDS (Table 2 shows that at least 30% of women and 20% of men rate their chances of contracting HIV as high). Furthermore, these qualitative responses allow us to gauge if the determinants of the risk of HIV infection and self-perceived risks of contracting HIV are similar. In addition, we are able to include variables of sexual behavior in the regressions of self-perceived risk of contracting HIV unlike the former case. The behavior indicators included are: having concurrent relationships in the past 12 months; using a condom consistently; alcohol use during sex; and having an STI in the past 12 months. For men, we include an additional indicator of whether circumcised. The last 4 columns of Table 5 show the determinants of high self-perceived risk of contracting HIV for women and men. For women, the results indicate that women who are divorced/separated as well as those in polygamous unions have a significant self-perceived risk of contracting HIV.

With regard to sexual behavior, Table 5 shows that women who have had concurrent partners as well as those who have used alcohol during sex considered themselves at high risk of

contracting HIV. However, the coefficients for above two variables are only weakly significant at the 10% level. On the other hand, women who have had an STI in the past 12 months significantly considered themselves to be at higher chance of contracting HIV. Specifically, women who have had an STI are 7% more likely to report having a high chance of contracting HIV. A similar effect is observed for men—those who had an STI in the past 12 months are 8% more likely to report having a high chance of contracting HIV. At the same time, men with concurrent partners in the past 12 months are about 9% more likely to report having a high chance of contracting HIV than other men. Related, men who use alcohol are about 7% more likely to report a high chance of contracting HIV; unlike the case for women where alcohol abuse is not significant. The above results qualitatively show that individuals in Uganda understand that risky sexual behavior can lead to HIV infection. Why they continue to behavior this way despite the know risks, is not very clear from the data.

5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

This paper examines the factors associated with different sexual behaviors as well as the risk of HIV infection in Uganda, which is a country that has been heralded as exemplary in the fight against HIV/AIDS but that has recently seen an increase in the rate of new HIV infections. We use a nationally representative survey that tested individuals ages 15-49 years for HIV virus and other STIs. As expected, we find significant gender differences in terms of sexual behavior. Highly educated women are more likely to be tested for HIV/AIDS outside of routine antenatal services and are also less likely to be unfaithful. We also find that individuals who engage in risky sexual behavior are normally aware of the risk of contracting the HIV virus. In addition, we find that education attainment is a key determinant of the risk of HIV infection and sexual behavior, such as casual sex and unprotected sex. In particular, higher educational attainment is associated with the avoidance of risky sexual behavior, although highly educated individuals have the highest rates of HIV infections. The findings suggest that Uganda's investment in primary and secondary education through the UPE and USE programs will not lead to higher incomes but may lead to lower HIV infections in the long term, as more educated individuals avoid risky sexual behavior.

Our results also highlight the issues of access to and the cost of health facilities. For instance, individuals from well-to-do households are more likely to be tested for HIV than poorer individuals. Furthermore, there has been a surge in HIV testing among women and men in Uganda in the past 6 years. Although the majority of HIV testing services are free, these facilities are mainly located in urban centers and major hospitals patronized by richer individuals. Similarly, the use of condoms during sex with casual partners is most common in urban areas, whose residents can afford the cost of condoms. Consequently, it is important for the Ministry of Health to continue to subsidize HIV/AIDS services to to encourage testing" or "to increase the use of these services.

6.0 **REFERENCES**

- Ciantia, F. et al. (2004). "HIV Seroprevalence in Northern Uganda: The Complex Relationship between AIDS and Conflict." *Journal of Medicine & The Person* 2:4.
- Cleveland, W. S (1993) *Visualising Data* AT&T Bell Laboratories. Hobart Press, Summit, New Jersey.
- Corno, L and D. de Walque (2007) "The Determinants of HIV Infection and Related Sexual
- Behaviours: Evidence from Lesotho". World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4421.
- Deaton, A and S. Subramanian (1996) "The Demand for Food and Calories" *Journal of Political Economy* Vol. 104 No.1: 133-62.
- Djemai, E (2009) "How do Roads Spread AIDS in Africa? A Critique of the Received Policy Wisdom" Toulouse School of Economics.
- de Walque, D. and R. Kline (2010) "The Relationship between HIV Infection and Education: An Analysis of Six Sub-Saharan African Countries" in D. Sahn (ed) *The Socioeconomic Dimensions of HIV/AIDS in Africa: Challenges, Opportunities, and Misconceptions*. Cornell University Press.
- de Walque, D. (2009) "Does Education Affect HIV/AIDS Status? Evidence from five African countries" *World Bank Economic Review* Vol 23. No. 2: 209-233.
- _____, (2007a). "How does the impact of an HIV/AIDS information campaigns vary with educational attainment? Evidence from rural Uganda." *Journal of Development Economics*, 84:2, pp. 686-714.
- _____, (2007b) "Sero Discordant Couples in Five African Countries: Implications for Prevention Strategies." *Population and Development Review*. Vol. 33 No. 3: 501-523.
- Fan, J (1992) "Design-Adaptive Nonparametric Regression" *Journal of American Statistical Association*. Vol 87. 998-1104.
- Ferry, B (2001) "Comparison of key parameters of sexual behaviour in four urban populations with different levels of HIV infection" *AIDS* Vol 15. S41-50.
- Fortson, J. G (2009) "HIV/AIDS and Fertility" *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*. Vol 1. No.3: 170-94.
- _____, (2008) "The Gradient in Sub-Saharan Africa: Socioeconomic Status and HIV/AIDS" Demography Vol 45 No. 2: 303-322.
- Gersovitz, M (2005) "The HIV Epidemic in Four African Countries seen through the Demographic and Health Surveys." Journal of African Economies Vol 14 (June):191-246.
- Glick, P (2010) "HIV Prevention in Africa: What Has Been Learned?" in D. Sahn (ed) *The Socioeconomic Dimensions of HIV/AIDS in Africa: Challenges, Opportunities, and Misconceptions.* Cornell University Press.
 - _____, (2007) "Reproductive Health and Behaviour, HIV/AIDS, and Poverty in Africa" Cornell University CFNPP Working Paper No 219.

- Glick, P., J. Randriamamonjy and D. E. Sahn (2009) "Determinants of HIV Knowledge and Condon Use among women in Madagascar: An Analysis Using Matched Household and Community Data" *Africa Development Review* Vol 21. No. 1: 147-179.
- Glick, P. J and D. E. Sahn, (2008) "Are African practising Safe Sex: Evidence from Demographic and Health Surveys for Eight Countries" *Economic Development and Cultural Change* Vol 56: 397-439.

____, (2007) "Changes in HIV/AIDS Knowledge and Testing Behaviour in Africa: How Much and for whom?" *Journal of Population Economics* Vol 20 (April): 382-422.

- Government of Uganda (2010a) National Development Plan 2010/11-2014/15 (Kampala: National Planning Authority)
 - _____, (2008). Background to the Budget 2008/09 Fiscal Year: Achieving Prosperity for all through infrastructure Development Enhancing Employment and Economic Growth. Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development, Kampala.
- _____, (2006) *Uganda HIV/AIDS Sero-Behavioral Survey 2004-2005* Ministry of Health and ORC Macro. Kampala

_____, (2005a). *Health Sector Strategic Plan II, 2005/6-2009/10*. Ministry of Health.

- _____, (2005b) *Annual Health sector performance Report, 2004/5*. Ministry of Health, Kampala.
- Green, E. C et al (2006) "Uganda's HIV Prevention Success: The Role of Sexual Behaviour Change and National Response." *AIDS and Behaviour* Vol 10. July: 335-346.
- Green, W. H (2003) *Econometric Analysis* 5th Edn: Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gregson, S., H. Waddell, and S. Chandiwana (2001) "School Education and HIV Control in Sub Saharan Africa: From Discord to Harmony" *Journal of International Development* Vol 13: 467-498.
- Kazianga, H (2005) "HIV/AIDS Prevalence and the Demand for Safe Sexual Behaviour: Evidence from West Africa".
- Lachaud, J. P (2007) "HIV Prevalence and Poverty in Africa: Micro-and macro-econometric evidence applied to Burkina Faso" *Journal of Health Economics* Vol. 26: 483-504.
- Luke, N. (2008) "Economic Status, Informal Exchange and Sexual Risk in Kisumu, Kenya" *Economic Development and Cultural Change* Vol 56: 375-396.
- Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development, et al (2008) Assessing the Macroeconomic Impact of HIV/AIDS in Uganda: Phase III Report. Analysis of the Macroeconomic Impact. Kampala
- Ministry of Health, ICF International, CDC-Uganda, et al., (2012) Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey 2011 (Kampala: Ministry of Health)
- Mishra, V et al (2007) "HIV infection does not disproportionately affect the poorest in Sub-Saharan Africa" *AIDS* Vol. 21: S17-S28.
- Oster, E (2012) "HIV and Sexual Behaviour Change: Why not Africa" *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol 31. No. 35-49.
- _____, (2005) "Sexually Transmitted Infection, Sexual Behaviour and the HIV/AIDS Epidemic"

Quarterly Journal of Economics Vol. 120. No.2: 467-515.

- Quinn, T. C et al (2000) "Viral load and heterosexual transmission of human Immunodeficiency virus type I" *New England Journal of Medicine*. Vol. 342: 921-929.
- Sahn, D and D. Stifel (2003) "Exploring Alternative Measures of Welfare in the Absence of Expenditure Data" *Review of Income and Wealth*. Vol. 49. No.4: 463-489.
- Serwadda, D et al. (1995) "The Social dynamics of HIV transmission as reflected through discordant couples in rural Uganda" AIDS Vol. 9: 745-750.
- Ssewanyana, S and S.D. Younger (2008) "Infant Mortality in Uganda: Determinants, Trends, and Millennium Development Goals" *Journal of African Economies* Vol. 17. No.1: 34-61.
- Uganda AIDS Commission (2008) UNGASS Country Progress Report Uganda: January 2006 to December 2007. Kampala Uganda AIDS Commission.

Uganda AIDS Commission (2009) Uganda HIV/AIDS Control Project: Progress Report of the CHAI Component for the period 2006. Kampala: Uganda AIDS Commission.

UNAIDS (2011). World AIDS Day Report 2011. Geneva: UNAIDS.

- UNAIDS (2009). Consultation on Concurrent Sexual Partnerships: Recommendations from a Meeting of the UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections held in Nairobi, Kenya, April 20-21, 2009. London: UNAIDS.
- World Health Organization (2010) "Antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection in adults and adolescents: recommendations for a public health approach,2010 revision," <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/adult2010/en/index.html</u>.

EPRC RESEARCH SERIES

Listing of EPRC Research Series published since 2005 to date. Full text format of these and earlier papers can be downloaded from the EPRC website at www.eprc.or.ug

No	Author(s)	Title	Year
90	Isaac Shinyekwa	A Scoping Study of the Mobile Telecommunications Industry in Uganda	November 2011
89	Joseph Mawejje, Ezra Munyambonera & Lawrence Bategeka	Uganda's Electricity Sector Reforms And Institutional Restructuring	June 2012
88	Okoboi Geoffrey and Barungi Mildred	Constraints To Fertiliser Use In Uganda: Insights From Uganda Census Of Agriculture 2008/9	June 2012
87	Othieno Lawrence Shinyekwa Isaac	Prospects And Challenges In The Formation Of The COMESA-EAC And SADC Tripartite Free Trade Area	November 2011
86	Ssewanyana Sarah, Okoboi Goeffrey & Kasirye Ibrahim	Cost Benefit Analysis Of The Uganda Post Primary Education And Training Expansion And Improvement (PPETEI) Project	June 2011
85	Barungi Mildred & Kasirye Ibrahim	Cost-Effectiveness Of Water Interventions: The Case For Public Stand-Posts And Bore-Holes In Reducing Diarrhoea Among Urban Households In Uganda	June 2011
84	Kasirye Ibrahim & Ahaibwe Gemma	Cost Effectiveness Of Malaria Control Programmes In Uganda: The Case Study Of Long Lasting Insecticide Treated Nets (LLINs) And Indoor Residual Spraying	June 2011
83	Buyinza Faisal	Performance and Survival of Ugandan Manufacturing Firms in the Context of the East African Community	September 2011
82	Wokadala James, Nyende Magidu, Guloba Madina & Barungi Mildred	Public Spending In The Water Sub-Sector In Uganda: Evidence From Program Budget Analysis	November 2011
81	Bategeka Lawrence & Matovu John Mary	Oil Wealth And Potential Dutch Disease Effects In Uganda	June 2011
80	Shinyekwa Isaac & Othieno Lawrence	Uganda's Revealed Comparative Advantage: The Evidence With The EAC And China	September 2011
79	Othieno Lawrence & Shinyekwa Isaac	Trade, Revenues And Welfare Effects Of The EAC Customs Union On Uganda: An Application Of WITS-SMART Simulation Model, EPRC Research Series	April 2011

No	Author(s)	Title	Year
78	Kiiza Julius, Bategeka Lawrence & Ssewanyana Sarah	Righting Resources-Curse Wrongs In Uganda: The Case Of Oil Discovery And The Management Of Popular Expectations	July 2011
77	Guloba Madina, Wokadala James & Bategeka Lawrence	Does Teaching Methods And Availability Of Teaching Resources Influence Pupil's Performance?: Evidence From Four Districts In Uganda	August 2011
76	Okoboi Geoffrey, Muwanika Fred, Mugisha Xavier & Nyende Majidu	Economic And Institutional Efficiency Of The National Agricultural Advisory Services' Programme: The Case Of Iganga District	2011
75	Okumu Luke & Okuk J. C. Nyankori	Non-Tariff Barriers In EAC Customs Union: Implications For Trade Between Uganda And Other EAC Countries	December 2010
74	Kasirye Ibrahim & Ssewanyana Sarah	Impacts And Determinants Of Panel Survey Attrition: The Case Of Northern Uganda Survey 2004-2008	April 2010
73	Twimukye Evarist, Matovu John Mary Sebastian Levine & Birungi Patrick	Sectoral And Welfare Effects Of The Global Economic Crisis On Uganda: A Recursive Dynamic CGE Analysis	July 2010
72	Okidi John & Nsubuga Vincent	Inflation Differentials Among Ugandan Households: 1997 - 2007	June 2010
71	Hisali Eria	Fiscal Policy Consistency And Its Implications For Macroeconomic Aggregates: The Case Of Uganda	June 2010
70	Ssewanyana Sarah & Kasirye Ibrahim	Food Security In Uganda: A Dilemma To Achieving The Millennium Development Goal	July 2010
69	Okoboi Geoffrey	Improved Inputs Use And Productivity In Uganda's Maize Sector	March 2010
68	Ssewanyana Sarah & Kasirye Ibrahim	Gender Differences In Uganda: The Case For Access To Education And Health Services	May 2010
67	Ssewanyana Sarah	Combating Chronic Poverty In Uganda: Towards A New Strategy	June 2010
66	Sennoga Edward & Matovu John Mary	Public Spending Composition And Public Sector Efficiency: Implications For Growth And Poverty Reduction In Uganda	February. 2010
65	Christopher Adam	The Conduct Of Monetary Policy In Uganda: An Assessment	September 2009
64	Matovu John Mary, Twimukye Evarist, Nabiddo Winnie & Guloba Madina	Impact Of Tax Reforms On Household Welfare	May 2009

No	Author(s)	Title	Year
63	Sennoga Edward, Matovu John Mary & Twimukye Evarist	Tax Evasion And Widening The Tax Base In Uganda	May 2009
62	Twimukye Evarist & Matovu John	Macroeconomic And Welfare Consequences Of High Energy Prices	May 2009
61	Matovu John & Twimukye Evarist	Increasing World Food Price: Blessing Or Curse?	May 2009
60	Sennoga Edward, Matovu John & Twimukye Evarist	Social Cash Transfers For The Poorest In Uganda	May 2009
59	Twimukye Evarist, Nabiddo Winnie & Matovu John	Aid Allocation Effects On Growth And Poverty: A CGE Framework	May 2009
58	Bategetka Lawrence, Guloba Madina & Kiiza Julius	Gender and Taxation: Analysis of Personal Income Tax (PIT)	April 2009
57	Ssewanyana Sarah	Gender And Incidence Of Indirect Taxation: Evidence From Uganda	April 2009
56	Kasirye Ibrahim & Hisali Eria	The Socioeconomic impact of HIV/AIDS on Education outcomes in Uganda: School Enrolment and the Schooling Gap in 2002/03	November 2008
55	Ssewanyana Sarah & Okidi John	A Micro simulation Of The Uganda Tax System (UDATAX) And The Poor From 1999 To 2003	October 2008
54	Okumu Mike, Nakajjo Alex & Isoke Doreen	Socioeconomic Determinants Of Primary Dropout: The Logistic Model Analysis	February. 2008
53	Akunda Bwesigye Denis	An Assessment Of The Casual Relationship Between Poverty And HIV/AIDS In Uganda	September. 2007
52	Rudaheranwa Nichodemus, Guloba Madina & Nabiddo Winnie	Costs Of Overcoming Market Entry Constraints To Uganda's Export-Led Growth Strategy	August 2007
51	Kasirye Ibrahim	Vulnerability And Poverty Dynamics In Uganda, 1992-1999	August 2007
50	Sebaggala Richard	Wage Determination And Gender Discrimination In Uganda	May 2007
49	Ainembabazi J. Herbert	Landlessness Within The Vicious Cycle Of Poverty In Ugandan Rural Farm Household: Why And How It Is Born?	May 2007
48	Obwona Marios & Ssewanyana Sarah	Development Impact Of Higher Education In Africa: The Case Of Uganda	January 2007
47	Abuka Charles, Egesa Kenneth, Atai Imelda & Obwona Marios	Firm Level Investment: Trends, Determinants And Constraints	March 2006

HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.

HIV/AIDS Sero-prevalence and Socioeconomic Status: Evidence from Uganda.



Economic Policy Research Centre Plot 51, Pool Road, Makerere University Campus P.O. Box 7841, Kampala, Uganda Tel: +256-414-541023/4, Fax: +256-414-541022 Email: eprc@eprc.or.ug, Web: www.eprc.or.ug